ECONOMIST IMPACT

Cleaner air, clearer lungs, better lives

Exploring the intersection of air quality, health inequalities and lung health

Supported by



Contents

- 3 Key findings and calls to action
- 4 About this report
- 5 Introduction
- 7 Background
- 7 International concern about air pollution
- 8 Complications arising from climate change
- 8 The socioeconomic angle: do we all breathe equally?
- 9 Focusing on the EU5: a distinct region in key respects
- 12 Findings
- **12** Air quality problems still substantially affect the health of many Europeans living with lung conditions
- **13** Poor air quality contributes to worsening symptoms and lower quality of life for people with lung conditions
- **14** The impact of air pollution reaches beyond physical health—it also negatively impacts mental health
- **15** Climate-related factors and pollution from the built environment are the main causes of pollution
- **15** Good air quality may act as a buffer to climate-related challenges
- **16** Those in urban areas face a greater burden of poor air quality
- **18** Surprisingly, results do not vary significantly by education or income

20 Discussion

- 20 Changes in what we breathe and what we measure: how air quality continues to impact health
- 22 Conclusion: progress has been made, but more is needed
- 24 References

2

Key findings and calls to action

- This survey of 500 people with lung conditions in **France, Germany, Italy, Spain** and the **UK** found that, despite reductions in the concentration of key air pollutants, poor air quality negatively affects symptoms, overall health and quality of life for people living with lung conditions.
- Generally, the study countries have good air quality, but the data highlight the need to maintain
 and increase progress in reducing key pollutants. Policymakers should consider this ongoing
 health impact and how to further incentivise action as they review national and international
 legal pollutant concentration limits and air quality guidelines.
- The increasing number of heatwaves and increased pollen load—both generally associated with climate change—are already having a notable negative impact on people living with lung conditions. **Data collection must be improved to understand their extent and impact, enabling evidence-based policymaking**.
- Continuing climate change requires that policymakers integrate heatwaves and pollen in air quality policies, and they should include different perspectives in the making of such policies—for example, lung experts and environment experts working alongside each other, with people with lived experiences, and so forth.
- These issues were reported by survey respondents in all five study countries, but the problems are especially acute in urban areas, highlighting that **policy needs to continue to focus on the impact of air quality specifically on urban populations**.
- Our research did not uncover any significant variation in the extent of these issues among people
 of different socioeconomic status or education levels, possibly due to the broad protective effect of
 universal health coverage in the study countries. However, policymakers, when defining universal
 health packages and comprehensive respiratory health plans, should consider how heatwaves
 and increased pollen will likely affect those living with lung conditions.
- Our research is a starting point; more research is needed to further explore the intersection of air quality, health inequalities and lung health, and to understand specific risks, vulnerabilities and adaptive strategies for people with lung conditions.

About this report

Cleaner air, clearer lungs, better lives: exploring the intersection of air quality, health inequalities and lung health is an Economist Impact report, supported by Chiesi Group, a pharmaceutical company. This independent research explores the links between air quality, health inequalities and lung health. The study focuses on Western Europe, in particular five countries: France, Germany, Italy, Spain, and the United Kingdom. The findings of the report are based on a literature review and survey results.

The report was written by Paul Kielstra and edited by Miranda Baxa, Michael Guterbock, and Elly Vaughan of Economist Impact, with copy editing by Melissa Lux. Survey research and analysis was carried out by Georgina Lovati with support from Miranda Baxa, Michael Guterbock and Elly Vaughan. The findings and views expressed in this report are those of Economist Impact and do not necessarily reflect the views of the sponsor or the experts who contributed.

Introduction

Research on lung health often views the health of those affected by lung conditions through two narrow lenses: (1) attributes of the illness and (2) medical interventions available to treat or improve lung conditions. While some studies focus on the presence and effect of lung health inequalities, patient perspectives are often missing from these discussions. With this gap in mind, Economist Impact set out to better understand the realities and concerns of those with lung conditions by capturing lived experiences in the EU5.

This briefing paper describes the results from a survey of 500 people living with lung conditions in France, Germany, Italy, Spain and the UK. Much literature investigates the impact of air quality and health inequalities on lung health separately but not the intersection of all three. The aim of the survey was to explore a hypothesised relationship between lung health, air quality and health inequalities, focusing on the perspectives of people with lung conditions (Figure 1). By first exploring the policy landscape for improving air quality and then incorporating individual perspectives, this study takes a much-needed wider view to examine the impact of the environment within which people with lung conditions live.







Background

Evaluating the physical, policy and socioeconomic context is a critical first step in understanding the survey responses. Air quality in particular is an important aspect of this context. While this report focuses on the EU5, the global view of air pollution is also significant. First, international health policy is intended to act as the foundation for national health policy, with organisations such as the UN and the World Health Organization (WHO) setting guidelines for individual countries and supranational organisations. Second, and more notably, air pollution does not recognise national borders. That is, the action (or inaction) related to air pollution in one country can impact the populations of neighbouring nations. Thus, the following discussion takes a global view of air quality and related policy before focusing on the countries included in this study.

International concern about air pollution

Impure air is a substantial global health challenge. The WHO estimates that outdoor air pollution resulted in 4.2m premature deaths in 2019.¹ Of this total, roughly 52% of deaths resulted from lung conditions that were either caused or exacerbated by pollutants: 18% due to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), 23% due to acute lower respiratory infections, and 11% due to cancer in the respiratory tract.¹

International health policy has, accordingly, grown more active in the area. In 2015, for example, the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) included a commitment to reduce mortality and illnesses from pollution, including air pollution (Goal 3.9). Two of four related SDG progress indicators monitor deaths from ambient (outdoor) and indoor air pollution.²



More recently, in 2021, the WHO revised its 2005 air quality guidelines (AQG) on maximum concentrations of exposure to air pollutants (see Table 1).³ Citing a growing evidence base, the updated AQG substantially reduced recommended levels, especially for nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) and particulate matter with a diameter of 2.5 micrometres or less (PM2.5) which is often cited as the most dangerous air pollutant.^{3,4}

Table 1. Recommended 2021 AQG (Air QualityGuideline) levels compared to 2005 AQG

Pollutant, µg/m³	Averaging time	2005 AQG	2021 AQG
PM 2.5	Annual	10	5
	24-hour*	25	15
PM 10	Annual	20	15
	24-hour*	50	45
O 3	Peak season [†]	-	60
	8-hour*	100	100
NO2	Annual	40	10
	24-hour*	-	25

µg = microgram

* 99th percentile (ie 3-4 exceedance days per year)

 † Average of daily maximum 8-hour mean $\rm O_3$ concentration in the six consecutive months with the highest six-month running average $\rm O_3$ concentration

Note: Annual and peak season indicate long-term exposure, while 24-hour and 8-hour indicate short-term exposure

Source: Adapted from WHO. What are the WHO air quality guidelines?⁵

Complications arising from climate change

Climate-related factors are of growing interest in understanding the link between air quality and health—specifically, the increasing impacts of heatwaves and pollen. Climate change is expected to drive significant increases in both of these.^{6,7} While the impacts of climate change such as worsening heatwaves and increased pollen levels are of concern, the evidence base for the extent of these problems is lacking. For example, the term heatwave continues to lack a single, accepted definition. Still, the trend of a growing percentage of summer days falling into this category in Europe is upward, albeit unevenly so (Figure 2). This shift is generally associated with climate change, although the exact mechanism remains debated.^{8,9} Heatwaves also appear to be increasingly common in Europe. According to the Climate Change Service, the ten warmest years on record in Europe occurred since 2000, with the five warmest years occurring since 2014.¹⁰

Comprehensive, long-term data series of pollen levels, meanwhile, remain relatively scant. Only in 2019 did researchers—in this case, looking at information from across the northern hemisphere—find a statistical link between higher average temperatures, the length of the pollen season, and the extent of the pollen load.¹² The evidence suggests that most people are breathing in more pollen.

The socioeconomic angle: do we all breathe the same quality air?

The social determinants of health—the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age, including their socioeconomic status (SES)—have long been known to have a substantial impact on health inputs and outcomes.¹³

Evidence from much of the world indicates that social determinants play a role in air quality and lung conditions. In most regions, those living in lower-SES neighbourhoods breathe more polluted air and have worse health outcomes.¹⁴ The degree and impact vary, but any examination of the link between air quality and health has to consider the socioeconomic aspect.

Focusing on the EU5: a distinct region in key respects

Worldwide trends related to air pollution and climate affect Western European countries, but the region also differs from global norms in important ways. To a large degree, air quality and the health outcomes arising from it are better in the five survey countries. Nevertheless, air quality issues continue to threaten the health of those living with lung conditions.

• Policy lags behind WHO guidelines: The current EU Ambient Air Quality Directive, originally published in 2008, covers four of this study's countries—France, Germany, Italy and Spain. The directive's exposure limits are higher than the 2005 WHO AQG. A proposed revision drafted in October 2022 includes more stringent restrictions, but these still exceed the levels recommended in the 2021

AQG.¹⁵ In July 2023, all countries in the WHO European Region agreed in the Budapest Declaration to use the WHO guidelines as reference points for stricter air pollution limits (although they did not commit to necessarily meeting them fully).¹⁶

 Actual pollution concentrations in our five study countries, however, are good relative to global levels: In contrast to global rates, these countries have seen substantial progress toward cleaner air over the last decade (Figure 3). Using average PM2.5 concentrations as an example, in 2019, Spain met the previous WHO AQG with an average annual exposure of 9.73 µg/m³, and the UK almost did (10.1 µg/ m³). The worst exposure was in Italy (16.1 µg/ m³), which was still well below the European limits (Directive 2008/50/EC).¹⁷

Nevertheless, improvements remain necessary. France, for example, has had to pay fines for breaching European guidelines.¹⁸ Meanwhile, the WHO evidence noted above shows that even states that have reached the old AQG need to improve. Doing so will help to save lives.



Percentage of days during summer with 'very strong heat stress' (UTCI* between 38 and 46°C) in Europe, 1950 to 2022



^{*} Universal Thermal Climate Index

Source: Copernicus Programme, "Extreme Heat," European State of the Environment 2022,11 (data from ERA5-HEAT with credit to C3S/ECMWF), https://climate.copernicus.eu/esotc/2022/extreme-heat



Figure 3. Annual Mean Concentrations of PM2.5

Mean concentrations of PM2.5 from all monitoring stations, $\mu g/m^3$

Sources: European Environment Agency;¹⁹⁻²² UK Department for Environmental and Rural Affairs²³

- Resultant mortality is also comparatively low: The age-standardised rate of deaths attributable to air pollution in the study countries ranged between 10.03 (France) and 15 (Italy) per 100,000. All of these national figures were among the 22 lowest in the world. France and Spain were among the ten lowest.²⁴
- Heatwaves and pollen load will likely grow: The data described in Figure 2 suggest that these problems are increasing in the northern hemisphere, including Western Europe, likely due to climate change. A recent report from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change warned that the number of days hot enough to cause death has been increasing globally.²⁵

• Any relationship between health inequalities and air quality is less clear than in other regions: Studies of differential pollutant exposure by either area or SES in eight Western European countries yielded inconsistent results: disadvantaged groups faced higher levels of air pollution in some; the reverse was true in others.²⁶ The survey aims to help understand the complex interrelationships in the lived patient experience between air quality, health inequality and lung health in a region which is, in many ways, better off than most.

Findings

The survey, conducted in June 2023, had 500 respondents, with even numbers from each of France, Germany, Italy, Spain and the UK. Of those surveyed, 86% reported having asthma, 20% COPD and 4% chronic pneumonia. Several individuals were living with more than one of these. Those surveyed were also from across the economic spectrum, with 35% classified as low income (annual income less than €38,000); 34% medium income (annual income above €38,000 and below €103,000); and 31% high income (annual income above €103,000). Of respondents, 47% lived in cities, 33% in towns or semi-dense areas and 20% in rural areas. Finally, those surveyed had a range of education levels: 29% held at most a high school certificate, 45% a bachelor's degree and 19% a postgraduate gualification.

Air quality still substantially affects the health of many Europeans living with lung conditions

It is no surprise that air quality has an impact on people with lung conditions. More striking, though, is the extent of the effect.

Overall, our respondents were more likely to say that air quality where they live has deteriorated over the last five years (38%) than improved (24%). The rest (38%) think thought it was about the same. In all five countries and across urban, suburban and rural areas, those who said that air



quality had declined outnumbered those who said the opposite.

In our survey, 37% of respondents said that where they live currently has good or very good air quality that is better than five years ago. In contrast, 25% of respondents reported that the air quality is currently poor or very poor. A total of 69% believed that the air quality had worsened in the previous five years, regardless of whether they thought that current air quality was good or bad.

These two groups have markedly different answers to several other questions related to physical health (Figure 4).



Question 11: Percentage agreeing with the following statements



The following makes my lung condition(s) worse:

Poor air quality contributes to worsening symptoms and lower quality of life for people with lung conditions

Respondents who reported living in areas with poor air quality believed that it makes the symptoms of their lung conditions worse (Figure 4): 48% said that it affects their symptoms a great deal, and 52% said it somewhat affects their symptoms. In contrast, only 30% of respondents reporting good air quality believed that the air affects their symptoms a great deal, and 37% reported that the air quality has little to no effect at all.

Where the air quality is poor, 83% of respondents reported that merely going outside exacerbates their lung condition, and 71% report that the air in their own homes makes their symptoms worse. These problems are much less common for individuals who reported good air quality, affecting only 34% and 12%, respectively.

Low air quality imposes a trade-off for many of those wishing to engage in physical activity, causing them to weigh the benefits of exercise against the exacerbation of their lung conditions. Nearly all (98%) respondents living in areas with poor air quality reported that exercising outdoors makes their lung conditions worse, and the majority (65%) reported that exercising indoors has the same effect. Fewer respondents living where air quality is good or very good face this choice: exercising causes worsening symptoms in this group for 44% when outdoors and only 15% when indoors. Given the established benefits of exercise (particularly outdoor exercise) for maintaining and improving lung health, these results suggest that those living in areas with poor air quality are at a disadvantage compared to their counterparts.²⁷



The impact of air pollution reaches beyond physical health—it also negatively impacts mental health

As described above, people living with lung conditions reported that poor air quality exacerbates their symptoms and results in worsening health. Changes in physical health can also affect quality of life and mental health, for example the Mental Health Foundation in the UK reporting that 1 in 3 individuals with a chronic condition also experiences a mental health condition (eg depression).²⁸ In this context, we incorporated survey questions related to quality of life and mental health to examine the impact of air quality. Findings from this portion of the survey indicate that poor air quality can impede activities that have been shown to improve mental health and quality of life.

Social interaction is important for maintaining good health and quality of life.²⁹ This is especially true for individuals with chronic conditions, including COPD, where studies have found that social support can lead to fewer exacerbations and better health status.^{30,31} Yet, over half (57%) of those living in an environment with poor air quality reported that they have had to avoid outdoor activities, such as exercise/ sports or social engagements (Figure 4). In areas with good air quality, only 36% of respondents reported having to avoid these activities. Thus, individuals in areas with poor air quality are more likely to miss out on activities that could benefit their mental health and quality of life.

In addition, those living with poor air quality are more likely to worry about potential problems associated with their conditions. In fact, 44% of this group think a lot about their health worsening, compared to just 28% of those living in a less polluted environment (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Reported concern related to statements about the future, by reported air quality, % Question 15: Percentage who think about the following a lot

Climate-related factors and pollution from the built environment are the main causes of pollution

When asked about the leading causes of air pollution where they live, 67% of respondents said traffic exhaust—by far the most commonly cited issue (Figure 6). Traffic fumes and pollutant concentrations tend to be greater in urban areas, where the majority of residents in our study countries live. Indeed, more than 67% of respondents in urban areas ranked traffic exhaust number one among causes of pollution, which we discuss later in this report.

The second and third most frequently reported causes were climate-related factors: namely, heatwaves/extreme weather (43%) and increased pollen levels (41%). Pollen is a particular issue for those living with asthma: 43% listed it as a leading cause of pollution, versus just 20% of those with COPD. Air pollution caused by climate-related factors is not included in the WHO's AQG nor is it routinely measured as an indicator of progress towards clean-air goals. Still, our findings suggest that these factors have a significant impact on those with lung conditions.



Good air quality may act as a buffer to climate-related challenges

Good general air quality may provide a buffer to the likely growing lung health challenges of heatwaves and pollen. Among respondents who reported poor air quality, 80% said that air quality where they live makes their conditions worse. In the same group, 75% reported the same about pollen. In contrast, among respondents who reported living in areas with good or very good air quality, these figures are about half as large (41% and 34% respectively).

Figure 6. Perceived causes of air pollution, % Question 9: Perceived causes of air pollution where the respondent lives



Source: Economist Impact survey data, 2023

While both groups reported an impact of climate-related challenges on their symptoms, the difference shows that good general air quality may mitigate the impact of heatwaves and pollen on the symptoms of those with lung conditions, improving quality of life.

Those in urban areas face a greater burden of poor air quality

Responses about the degree and nature of air quality challenges differ—to a statistically significant degree-depending on whether the individuals live in cities or the countryside. Responses from those living in towns or suburban areas tended to fall in between, although replies from this group were often closer to those of respondents from rural areas than of urban ones.

Predictably, air is cleaner in the countryside, but the extent of population density's impact is dramatic. Nearly half of those living in rural areas say that their air quality is currently good or very good, while only 11% believe it to be poor or very poor (Figure 7). In cities, slightly more consider it poor than good (32% to 31%). The urban centres of the surveyed Western European countries have left behind the intense pollution of an earlier age; however, poor air quality continues to be a widespread and important problem. This problem has an outsized effect population-wide because the majority of people in the study countries live in cities-between 72% (Italy) and 84% (UK).32



The perceived origin of air pollution also differs markedly by residential area. The big difference between rural and urban areas is in the number who identified traffic fumes and, to a lesser extent, industrial facilities as major sources. As noted earlier, these results underline the importance of continued progress on pollutant concentrations. Rural respondents, in contrast, are much more likely than urban peers to cite increased pollen levels and burning waste or outdoor fires as problems in their areas.

Figure 7. Perception of air quality by population density, % Question 8: Perception of air quality where respondent lives



Source: Economist Impact survey data, 2023

All of the above differences are statistically significant. They suggest that, while national efforts remain crucial, in some cases local cleanair policies for urban areas could have a positive impact on lung health.³³

Respondents in each area most frequently reported traffic fumes as the driver of air pollution, although it is tied with pollen in rural areas (Figure 8). Moreover, heatwaves and pollen fill out the top three sources according to respondents in each type of location, except in urban areas where pollen was the fourth most frequent choice. This consistency indicates that the changes in air quality associated with climate change pose a significant problem everywhere, along with the ongoing issues arising from pollutants, which have been the traditional focus of air quality policy.

The impact of poor air quality, meanwhile, is noticeably higher in cities than in the countryside. Of respondents in urban centres, 35% said that it has affected their symptoms a great deal, and only 5% said not at all. Among those surveyed in rural areas, the equivalent figures are 22% and 14%, respectively.

More granular results indicate that poor air quality in cities affects a larger proportion of those living with lung conditions, and it affects them in a range of places and while



Figure 8. Causes of air pollution by population density, % Question 9: Leading causes of air pollution by population density

doing a variety of activities (Figure 9). In the accompanying chart, the differences between the urban and other responses are statistically significant except for that between urban and semi-urban figures for outdoor exercise. While more common in urban areas, these challenges exist elsewhere. Over half of rural and semiurban residents, for example, still said that outdoor exercise worsens their conditions.

Just as striking as the differences, especially given the rising frequency of heatwaves and level of pollen, is how similar the effects of these are across all three groups. Two survey questions asked about the impact of these factors on respondents' illnesses. In the responses to one of the questions, the differences between urban and rural respondents were only on the cusp of statistical significance; in the other, the variations were insignificant. Overall, between a half and two-thirds of respondents in every kind of residential area said that pollen and heatwaves worsen their symptoms and their overall conditions. These figures make clear that the increase in the frequency of heatwaves and the pollen burden is already having a widespread effect. It will grow only worse with any rise in these problems.

Surprisingly, results do not vary significantly by education or income

Typically, health outcomes vary—sometimes dramatically—by education and income levels. However, in the survey results, answers about the impact of air quality on conditions, symptoms and quality of life are similar across these divides.

The few statistically significant differences in the responses by education level are so minor that, overall, the survey data do not reveal difference in the lived experience of people affected with

Figure 9. Reported causes of worsening symptoms by population density, % Question 11: Percentage agreeing with the following statements

The following makes my lung condition(s) worse:

lung conditions based on the extent of their schooling.

More interesting is how similar the responses from these groups were on questions where income would presumably matter greatly (Figure 10). When asked how often they think about the cost of their illness and its impact on their employment, most say that they worry at least some of the time. However, this proportion is similar across all three income groups. In no case do the answers of the low- and high-income groups show statistically significant differences. It should be noted that all five of the survey countries have comprehensive healthcare and disability support provisions, as well as rigorous labour laws, compared to global norms. These social protections may contribute to the lack of differences seen in the survey data. Whatever faults and deficiencies these systems and regulations may display, they appear to level important aspects of the economic burden of lung conditions. As such, maintaining support for these systems and regulations can continue to lessen the gap traditionally seen between income groups.

Figure 10. Concern about cost and job security by income group, $\,\%$

Questions from the Economist Impact survey data, 2023

Discussion

Changes in what we breathe and what we measure: how air quality continues to impact health

In general, survey respondents from EU5 countries reported that the air is worse than it was five years ago. In addition, the worsening air quality continues to impact the health and wellbeing of people with chronic lung conditions such as asthma and COPD.

These findings seem contrary to the progress demonstrated in air quality data from the countries in question. The low pollutant levels when compared to those in the rest of the world are no accident but, rather, the result of policy changes and action to improve air quality. For instance, a recent Lancet article opined that "the European region is at the forefront of combatting ambient PM pollution."³⁴ In contrast to the global average, the latest time series figures for the major airborne pollutants in Europe show a long-term decline for known pollutants (ie PM10, PM2.5 and, more recently, NO₂) (Figure 3). Ozone levels, however, show little overall change across the years. The only exception is in Spain, where levels of these pollutants have remained steady, but have long been below the recommended European threshold.¹⁹⁻²³

With so much progress on key environmental indicators, why are respondents more negative about how air is changing? The top three reported causes of air pollution provide some explanations (Figure 6).

Because the majority of EU5 populations live in urban settings where pollutant concentrations tend to be greater, residents of these countries experience built-environment pollutants (e.g. traffic fumes, industrial sources) on a daily basis. For them, these sources continue to be significant contributors to reduced air quality. That is, country-level progress to improve air quality may not be reflected in the subjective experiences of those who live and work near common sources of pollution. To alleviate the effects of these pollutants and improve lung health, countries should make greater efforts to adopt and reach WHO AQG concentration levels.

Still, relying solely on the most commonly measured pollutants gives an incomplete picture to policymakers and other stakeholders of the impact of air quality on those living with lung conditions. Based on our findings, we posit that the likeliest explanation for the number of respondents who reported that their air is getting worse-rather than simply continuing to be bad—is due to the increase in air quality factors associated with climate change. Specifically, the impact of factors such as heatwaves/extreme weather and increased pollen levels is outweighing progress on chemical and particle pollutants. More and consistent data are needed on the actual impact of heatwaves and pollen, and this information urgently needs to be integrated into air quality assessment. As the effects of climate change are felt more heavily around the world, it is imperative that stakeholders improve awareness of the burden of these factors and increase support for the populations most susceptible to their effects.

Conclusion: progress has been made, but more is needed

Our survey has given an unusual window into the views of people living with lung conditions in Western Europe. Despite some policy weaknesses, and compared to other parts of the globe, this region has low levels of air pollution and pollution-related mortality. Like much of the rest of the world, however, heatwaves and higher pollen loads seem to be increasing. Despite the advantages for those living in these five countries, significant findings arise from the data:

- Air quality can be good in parts of these countries, but where it is poor, it continues to take a marked toll on the health outcomes and quality of life of those living with lung conditions.
- Progress against chemical pollutants in the air needs to go further. Otherwise, symptoms will worsen for individuals with lung conditions, from simply breathing the air indoors and outdoors.
- Heatwaves and pollen loads are already affecting air quality, according to our respondents. An expected increase in the future due to climate change will make matters worse.
- Urban areas require special attention in improving air quality even as national efforts need to remain the primary policy arena.
- Our research did not identify significant differences among people in various socioeconomic groups, possibly due to the protective effect of universal health coverage, but this does not mean that such differences do not exist.

"More research is needed to further explore the intersection of air quality, health inequalities and lung health, and to understand specific risks, vulnerabilities and adaptive strategies for people with lung conditions. "

Economist Impact

References

1. WHO. Ambient (outdoor) air pollution [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ambient-(outdoor)-air-quality-and-health.

2. WHO. Global health observatory: SDG target 3.9 [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/indicator-groups/indicator-group-details/GHO/sdg-target-3.9-mortality-from-environmental-pollution

3. WHO. WHO global air quality guidelines: particulate matter (PM2.5 and PM10), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulphur dioxide and carbon monoxide. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2021. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/345329/9789240034228-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

4. Orellano P, Reynoso J, Quaranta N, et al. Short-term exposure to particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5), nitrogen dioxide (NO2), and ozone (O3) and all-cause and cause-specific mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. Environ Int. 2020 Sep;142:105876.

5. WHO. What are the WHO air quality guidelines? [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/what-are-the-who-air-quality-guidelines

6. Watts N, Amann M, Arnell N, et al. The 2020 report of the Lancet countdown on health and climate change: responding to converging crises. Lancet. 2021 Jan 9;397(10269):129-170. Epub 2020 Dec 2. Erratum in: Lancet. 2020 Dec 14.

7. D'Amato G, Chong-Neto HJ, Monge Ortega OP, et al. The effects of climate change on respiratory allergy and asthma induced by pollen and mold allergens. Allergy. 2020 Sep;75(9):2219-2228.

8. Zhang R, Sun C, Zhu J, et al. Increased European heat waves in recent decades in response to shrinking Arctic sea ice and Eurasian snow cover. NPJ Clim Atmos Sci;2020:3(7).

9. Rousi E, Kornhuber K, Beobide-Arsuaga G, et al. Accelerated western European heatwave trends linked to more-persistent double jets over Eurasia. Nat Commun. 2022 Jul 4;13(1):3851. Erratum in: Nat Commun. 2023 Jul 28;14(1):4560.

10. Copernicus. The European heatwave of July 2023 in a longer-term context [Internet]. Brussels: European Union. Available from: https://climate.copernicus.eu/european-heatwave-july-2023-longer-termcontext#:~:text=The%20average%20value%20for%20the,the%20globe%20as%20a%20whole.

11. Copernicus. Extreme heat [Internet]. Brussels: European Union. Available from: https://climate. copernicus.eu/esotc/2022/extreme-heat

12. Ziska LH, Makra L, Harry SK, et al. Temperature-related changes in airborne allergenic pollen abundance and seasonality across the northern hemisphere: a retrospective data analysis. Lancet Planet Health. 2019 Mar;3(3):e124-e131. Erratum in: Lancet Planet Health. 2019 Nov;3(11):e446.

13. WHO. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2008. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/52216/retrieve

14. Hajat A, Hsia C, O'Neill MS. Socioeconomic disparities and air pollution exposure: a global review. Curr Environ Health Rep. 2015 Dec;2(4):440-50.

15. EC. Annexes to the proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on ambient air quality and cleaner air for Europe (recast). Brussels: European Commission, 2022. Available from: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:2ae4a0cc-55f8-11ed-92ed-01aa75ed71a1.0001.02/ DOC_2&format=PDF

16. WHO. Declaration of the seventh ministerial conference on environment and health. Hungary: World Health Organization Europe Region, 2023. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1520128/retrieve

17. Health Effects Institute. State of global air 2020. Data source: Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. IHME, 2020 [Internet]. Available from: https://www.stateofglobalair.org/data/#/air/table

18. Earth.org. French State to Pay €20 Million Fine For Failing to Tackle Air Pollution In France, Court Rules [Internet]. Hong Kong: Earth.org. Available from: https://earth.org/air-pollution-in-france/

19. EEA. France: air pollution country fact sheet [Internet]. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency. Available from: https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/air/country-fact-sheets/2022-country-fact-sheets/ france-air-pollution-country.

20. EEA. Germany: air pollution country fact sheet [Internet]. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency. Available from: https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/air/country-fact-sheets/2022-country-fact-sheets/ germany-air-pollution-country.

21. EEA. Italy: air pollution country fact sheet [Internet]. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency. Available from: https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/air/country-fact-sheets/2022-country-fact-sheets/ italy-air-pollution-country.

22. EEA. Spain: air pollution country fact sheet [Internet]. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency. Available from: https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/air/country-fact-sheets/2022-country-fact-sheets/ spain-air-pollution-country.

23. DEFRA. National statistics: particulate matter (PM10/PM2.5) [Internet]. London: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/air-quality-statistics/concentrations-of-particulate-matter-pm10-and-pm25.

24. WHO. Global health observatory: indicator 3.9.1 mortality rate attributed to household and ambient air pollution [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/ data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/ambient-and-household-air-pollution-attributable-death-rate-(per-100-000-population-age-standardized).

25. IPCC. Climate change 2023 synthesis report: summary for policymakers [Internet]. Geneva: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Available from: https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_SYR_SPM.pdf

26. Deguen S, Zmirou-Navier D. Social inequalities resulting from health risks related to ambient air quality: a European review. Eur J Public Health. 2010 Feb;20(1):27-35.

27. Exercise and lung health [Internet]. Chicago (IL): American Lung Assocation. Available from: https://www.lung.org/lung-health-diseases/wellness/exercise-and-lung-health#:~:text=Aerobic%20activities%20 like%20walking%2C%20running,and%20toning%20your%20breathing%20muscles.

28. Physical health and mental health [Internet]. London: Mental Health Foundation. Available from: https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/explore-mental-health/a-z-topics/physical-health-and-mental-health#:~:text=Physical%20health%20problems%20significantly%20increase,most%20often%20 depression%20or%20anxiety.

29. Martino J, Pegg J, Frates EP. The connection prescription: using the power of social interactions and the deep desire for connectedness to empower health and wellness. Am J Lifestyle Med. 2015 Oct 7;11(6):466-475.

30. Barton C, Effing TW, Cafarella P. Social support and social networks in COPD: a scoping review. COPD. 2015;12(6):690-702.

31. Lenferink A, van der Palen J, Effing T. The role of social support in improving chronic obstructive pulmonary disease self-mangement. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2018;12(8):623-6.

32. The World Bank. Urban population (% of total population): France, Germany, Italy, Spain, United Kingdom [Internet]. Washington (DC): The World Bank. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.URB.TOTL.IN.ZS?contextual=aggregate&locations=FR-DE-IT-ES-GB

33. Rose TC, Daras K, Cloke J, et al. Impact of local air quality management policies on emergency hospitalisations for respiratory conditions in the North West Coast region of England: a longitudinal controlled ecological study. Int J Equity Health. 2021 Dec 13;20(1):254.

34. GBD 2019 Chronic Respiratory Diseases Collaborators. Global burden of chronic respiratory diseases and risk factors, 1990-2019: an update from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. EClinicalMedicine. 2023 May;59:101936.

While every effort has been taken to verify the accuracy of this information, Economist Impact cannot accept any responsibility or liability for reliance by any person on this report or any of the information, opinions or conclusions set out in this report. The findings and views expressed in the report do not necessarily reflect the views of the sponsor.

LONDON

The Adelphi 1-11 John Adam Street London WC2N 6HT United Kingdom Tel: (44) 20 7830 7000 Email: london@economist.com

NEW YORK

900 Third Avenue 16th Floor New York, NY 10022 United States Tel: (1.212) 554 0600 Fax: (1.212) 586 1181/2 Email: americas@economist.com

HONG KONG

1301 12 Taikoo Wan Road Taikoo Shing Hong Kong Tel: (852) 2585 3888 Fax: (852) 2802 7638 Email: asia@economist.com

GENEVA

Rue de l'Athénée 32 1206 Geneva Switzerland Tel: (41) 22 566 2470 Fax: (41) 22 346 93 47 Email: geneva@economist.com

DUBAI

Office 1301a Aurora Tower Dubai Media City Dubai Tel: (971) 4 433 4202 Fax: (971) 4 438 0224 Email: dubai@economist.com

SINGAPORE

8 Cross Street #23-01 Manulife Tower Singapore 048424 Tel: (65) 6534 5177 Fax: (65) 6534 5077 Email: asia@economist.com

SÃO PAULO

Rua Joaquim Floriano, 1052, Conjunto 81 Itaim Bibi, São Paulo, SP, 04534-004 Brasil Tel: +5511 3073-1186 Email: americas@economist.com